THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 07 2018

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

G. THOMAS COOPER, JR., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-40-05001

Appellate Case No.: 2017-002181

Tina Bessinger.....Appellant,

v.

Longcreek Plantation Property Owners Association, Inc., Halcyon Real Estate Services, LLC.,
Fairways Development, LLC, and Advantage Services, Inc.,
.....Respondents

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

William R. Padget (SC Bar No. 72579)
Carl D. Hiller (SC Bar No.)

FINKEL LAW FIRM LLC
1201 Main Street, Suite 1800
Post Office Box 1799
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 765-2935
Attorneys for Appellant Tina Bessinger

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE RESPONDENTS' MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS, THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER SHOULD BE REVERSED AND REMANDED FOR A TRIAL BY A JURY:

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE BASIS THAT THEY DID NOT OWE APPELLANT A DUTY OF CARE IN MAINTAINING THE PRIVATELY OWNED AND CONTROLLED AREA NEAR THE STOP SIGN AT THE INTERSECTION OF LONGTOWN ROAD AND HUNTING PATH ROAD**

- II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON CAUSATION WHERE APPELLANT SUBMITTED AMPLE EVIDENCE FOR A JURY TO CONCLUDE THAT RESPONDENTS' FAILURES WERE THE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE COLLISION.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In November of 2013, Appellant Tina Bessinger (“Appellant” or “Ms. Bessinger”) was seriously injured when she was involved in an automobile collision at the intersection of Longtown Road and Hunting Path Road in Blythewood, South Carolina. Appellant alleged that the improper landscaping at the neighborhood entrance which was owned, controlled, or maintained by Respondents caused the collision. Ms. Bessinger initiated this premises liability and negligence action by filing a Summons and Complaint on August 18, 2016 against LongCreek Plantation Property Owners Association, Inc. (hereinafter “Respondent LongCreek POA”), LongCreek Development, LLC, and Fairways Development, LLC (hereinafter “Respondent Fairways”).¹ Ms. Bessinger filed an Amended Complaint on October 10, 2016 additionally naming Advantage Services, Inc. (hereinafter “Respondent Advantage”) and Halcyon Real Estate Services, LLC (hereinafter “Respondent Halcyon”) as defendants to this action.² Respondent LongCreek POA filed its Answer to the Amended Complaint on October 28, 2016.³ Respondent Advantage filed its Answer to the Amended Complaint on November 7, 2016.⁴ Respondent Halcyon filed its Answer to the Amended Complaint on November 14, 2016.⁵ On November 28, 2016, after receiving no response from Respondent Fairways or LongCreek Development, LLC, the Appellant filed an Affidavit of Default against both parties.⁶ After a conversation with opposing counsel, on December 9, 2016, the Appellant withdrew its Affidavit

¹ See Complaint.

² See Amended Complaint.

³ See Respondent LongCreek POA’s Answer to Amended Complaint.

⁴ See Respondent Advantage’s Answer to Amended Complaint.

⁵ See Respondent Halcyon’s Answer to Amended Complaint.

⁶ See Aff. of Default for Fairways Development, LLC; Aff. of Default for LongCreek Development, LLC. Defendant LongCreek Development, LLC made no appearance and is currently in default.

of Default against Respondent Fairways.⁷ On January 1, 2017, Respondent Fairways filed its Answer to the Amended Complaint.⁸ In their respective answers to the Amended Complaint, Respondents LongCreek POA, Halcyon, Fairways, and Advantage (hereinafter collectively referred to as “the Respondents”) asserted the following defenses: (1) general denial; (2) acts or omissions of others; and (3) comparative negligence.⁹ In Respondent Fairways’ Answer to the Amended Complaint, it also asserted the following defenses: (1) assumption of the risk; (2) unavoidable accident; and (3) intervening or superseding negligence.¹⁰ The parties then participated in discovery. On May 30, 2017, the Court issued a Consent Scheduling Order, in which it stated that mediation shall be completed no later than August 3, 2017 and that the case is subject to be called for trial on or after September 18, 2017.¹¹

On May 22, 2017, Respondent Advantage filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that (1) Advantage generally did not owe a duty of care to the Appellant; (2) Advantage did not owe a duty of care to the Appellant because the scope of their agreement was defined solely by contractual relationships arising from their agreement with Respondent Halcyon, and (3) there was no evidence that an alleged breach of duty was the proximate cause of the accident.¹² On June 1, 2017, Respondent Longcreek POA filed a Motion for Summary Judgment.¹³ On June 8, 2017,

⁷ See Withdrawal of Affidavit of Default

⁸ See Respondent Fairways’ Answer to Amended Complaint.

⁹ See Respondent LongCreek POA’s Answer to Amended Complaint; Respondent Advantage’s Answer to Amended Complaint; Respondent Halcyon’s Answer to Amended Complaint; Respondent Fairways’ Answer to Amended Complaint

¹⁰ See Respondent Fairways’ Answer to Amended Complaint.

¹¹ See Consent Scheduling Order.

¹² See Respondent Advantage’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support for Motion for Summary Judgment.

¹³ See Respondent LongCreek POA’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

Respondent Fairways filed a Motion for Summary Judgment.¹⁴ On July 27, 2017, Respondents Halcyon and LongCreek POA filed a joint Amended Motion for Summary Judgment.¹⁵ On the same day, Respondents Halcyon and LongCreek POA filed a joint Amended Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and a Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Amended Motion for Summary Judgment, in which they asserted summary judgment should be granted on the basis that (1) they do not own or maintain control over the property where the stop sign is located; (2) that they do not owe a duty of care to the Appellant to maintain the area around the stop sign; and (3) that there was no evidence that an alleged breach of duty was the proximate cause of the accident.¹⁶ On August 1, 2017, Respondent Fairways filed its Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, in which it asserted that summary judgment should be granted on the basis that (1) it did not owe a duty of care to the Appellant and (2) that there was no evidence that the alleged breach of duty was the proximate cause of the accident.¹⁷ The Appellant filed her collective Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment on August 31, 2017.¹⁸

The Appellant and the Respondents appeared before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. in Richland County on September 5, 2017 on each of the Respondents' substantially similar

¹⁴ See Respondent Halcyon's Motion for Summary Judgment.

¹⁵ See Respondent Halcyon and LongCreek POAs' Amended Motion for Summary Judgment.

¹⁶ See Respondent Halcyon and LongCreek POA Amended Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and Respondent Halcyon and LongCreek POA Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Amended Motion for Summary Judgment.

¹⁷ See Respondent Fairways Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment.

¹⁸ See Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant Longcreek Plantation Property Owners Association, Inc.'s, Halcyon Real Estate Services, LLC's, Fairways Development, LLC's, and Advantage Services, Inc.'s Motions for Summary Judgment.

Motions for Summary Judgment. The Trial Court heard arguments and requested that each party draft a proposed order within 10 days.¹⁹ Each party submitted their proposed orders.

On September 22, 2017, the Trial Court issued the three proposed orders submitted by the Respondents as orders of the court.²⁰ In all three orders, the Trial Court held that the Respondents did not owe a duty to the Appellant based on the case law set forth in *Underwood v. Coponen*, and that the Appellant failed to provide any evidence to show that the Respondents were the actual and proximate cause of the accident.²¹ In respect to Respondent Fairways, the Trial Court also held that Respondent Fairways did not owe a contractual duty to the Appellant because it is not a party to the contract between Respondent Advantage and Respondent Halcyon, therefore Respondent Fairways has no contractual duties, “particularly one owed to another non-party.”²² In respect to Respondent Advantage, the Trial Court also held that Respondent Advantage owed no duty of care to the Appellant because the scope of its duty was defined solely by its contractual relationship arising from its agreement with Respondent Halcyon.²³

On October 19, 2017, Appellant filed her notice of appeal of the trial’s court’s September 22, 2017 Orders. This appeal followed.

¹⁹ See Trial Transcript p. 46.

²⁰ See Order Granting Advantage Services, Inc.’s Motion for Summary Judgment; Order Granting Defendants LongCreek Plantation Owners Association, Inc.’s and Halcyon Real Estate Services, LLC’s Motion for Summary Judgment; Order Granting Defendant Fairways Development, LLC’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

²¹ See Order Granting Advantage Services, Inc.’s Motion for Summary Judgment; Order Granting Defendants LongCreek Plantation Owners Association, Inc.’s and Halcyon Real Estate Services, LLC’s Motion for Summary Judgment; Order Granting Defendant Fairways Development, LLC’s Motion for Summary Judgment

²² See Order Granting Defendant Fairways Development, LLC’s Motion for Summary Judgment

²³ See Order Granting Advantage Services, Inc.’s Motion for Summary Judgment

FACTS

On November 1, 2013, Appellant, a school bus driver for Richland School District Two, was driving her school bus northbound on Longtown Road in the direction of Blythewood Middle School to pick up children and drop them off at their respective bus stops.²⁴ As she approached the intersection of Longtown Road and Hunting Path Road²⁵ at the entrance of Fox Meadow, a subdivision of the LongCreek Plantation neighborhood, a vehicle driven by a young woman named Amber Edwards drove through the Fox Meadow entrance, without stopping at the stop sign at the intersection, and collided with Appellant's bus.²⁶ Due to the collision, Appellant lost control of the bus causing her to drive off the road and into a tree.²⁷ As a result of the collision, Appellant suffered painful and permanent injuries.²⁸

Respondent LongCreek POA is the homeowners association for the LongCreek Plantation neighborhood, which includes the Fox Meadow subdivision. LongCreek Development and Respondent Fairways were responsible for the development of LongCreek Plantation and Fox Meadow. Respondent Fairways is the titled owner of the real property where the Fox Meadow entrance in question is located.²⁹ Respondent Halcyon is a property management company that was hired by Respondent LongCreek POA to manage LongCreek Plantation, including the Fox Meadow subdivision.³⁰ Respondent Halcyon has managed LongCreek POA

²⁴ See Deposition of Tina Bessinger, March 9, 2017, 16:6-15.

²⁵ This intersection is a two way stop with motorists traveling on Hunting Path Road having a stop sign. Motorists traveling on Longtown Road do not have a stop sign.

²⁶ See Accident Report and Video of collision (depicting Appellant's statements of what occurred).

²⁷ See *id.*

²⁸ See Dep. of Bessinger, 37:1-24 & 41:1-25.

²⁹ See Deposition of David Peterson (Respondent Halcyon's President), March 21, 2017, 20:9-14.

³⁰ See *id.* at 6:15-25.

since 2002.³¹ As part of its contract, Respondent Halcyon would regularly inspect and maintain the entrances to all LongCreek Plantation subdivisions, including Fox Meadow.³² Respondent LongCreek POA, through Respondent Halcyon, had a contract with Respondent Advantage, whereby Respondent Advantage would provide landscaping and beautification services to the different common areas within the LongCreek Plantation neighborhood, including the Fox Meadow entrance.³³

Appellant maintained that Ms. Edwards ran the stop sign, drove through the intersection of Hunting Path Road and Longtown Road, and collided into Appellant's school bus as a result of Ms. Edwards being unable to see the stop sign at the intersection because it was obscured by overgrown tree branches, as well as her being unable to see Appellant approach the intersection because of overgrown trees and underbrush obscuring visibility down Longtown Road.³⁴ The intersection is at a curve in Longtown Road, making it difficult and/or impossible for motorists to see approaching vehicles.³⁵ Trees and underbrush are planted and maintained by the Respondents in close proximity to the stop sign in question and directly in the sight lines looking down Longtown Road. Over time, these trees were allowed to grow to the point that they obscured the stop sign and worsened the already existing visibility problems down Longtown Road.³⁶ Branches from the trees frequently obscured the stop sign.³⁷ The entrance, which was to

³¹ See *id.*, at 9:3-5.

³² See *id.* at 14:7-25; see also Halcyon Real Estate Services, LLC Management Agreement (hereinafter "Halcyon Agreement").

³³ See Dep. of Peterson at 12:18-25 & 13:1-17; see also Advantage Services, Inc. Landscaping & Irrigation Maintenance Agreement (hereinafter "Advantage Agreement").

³⁴ See Amended Complaint.

³⁵ See Deposition of Melissa Crook, March 21, 2017, 24:5-11 & 30:12-23; see also Photographs from Google Earth, Sept. 2011.

³⁶ See Dep. of Bessinger, 23:19-25, 24:1-25; see also Dep. of Crook, 24:1-11, 26:12-19; see also Deposition of Jeannie Sharpe, March 9, 2017, 12:11-18 & 15:6-14 ("It's hard—when you're at the intersection, we would have to pull our bus way almost into the road, and you'd have to lean

be maintained by the Respondents, had become such a hazard that parents living in the neighborhood warned their children to use a different entrance to Fox Meadow because of the poor visibility.³⁸

Respondent Halcyon was admittedly obligated to make regular inspections of the Fox Meadow entrance to ensure there were no landscape issues or hazardous conditions, and in the past, had trimmed trees throughout LongCreek Plantation that impeded traffic.³⁹ Prior to the collision, landscapers were observed cutting tree branches and performing other maintenance tasks at the Fox Meadow entrance.⁴⁰ After the collision, Respondent Halcyon had the obstructive trees removed.⁴¹ It is undisputed that Halcyon actually exercised control of the landscaping in the area in question.

As to the collision itself, Appellant submitted a video recording from the inside of the school bus which depicted the suddenness and severity of the collision and Appellant's radio call to dispatch stating "This is bus 65, someone just ran out in front of me - we are right here at Longtown East."⁴² The events of the collision were also confirmed in the investigating officer's report of the collision.⁴³

way in to look down the road because [the trees] were covering so far. And so it's hard to see down the road in both directions. And I almost got hit on time on my because because I pulled out and there as a car coming. It was just so hard to see. So I'm very thankful they cut those branches down.").

³⁷ See Dep. of Sharpe, 12:9-19; *see also* Dep. of Bessinger, 25:10-17.

³⁸ See Dep. of Crook, 56:9-20 ("And when my children started driving I actually recommended... I told him that he had to go out the other entrance... And I was worried about him specifically trying to – you know, learning how to drive a stick shift. And if he got caught at that intersection he could very easily get T-boned. So there have been times that I have not taken that route.").

³⁹ See Dep. of Peterson, 15:17-23.

⁴⁰ See Dep. of Bessinger, 25:10-20.

⁴¹ See Photographs from Google Earth, October 2014.

⁴² See Video of the collision, November 1, 2013.

⁴³ See Accident Report.

Prior to November 1, 2013, Ms. Edwards had never been to Fox Meadow and was unfamiliar with the area.⁴⁴ She had never once driven through the intersection in question, and she was unaware of the visibility issues at the intersection and of the stop sign's existence.⁴⁵ As a result of the collision, Ms. Edwards sustained severe injuries, was in a coma for several days, and experienced slight memory loss.⁴⁶ When questioned in her deposition about why she did not stop at the stop sign, Ms. Edwards was unable to give a reason due to her memory loss, but testified that had she seen the stop sign, she would have stopped.⁴⁷ Ms. Edwards testified that she always stops at stop signs and that she valued her life and her car far too much not to stop.⁴⁸

Further, the record is replete with testimony that the stop sign was obstructed on the day in question. On the morning of November 1, 2013, before the collision occurred, Jeanie Sharpe, a fellow bus driver, had driven through Fox Meadow and the stop sign in question on her regular school bus route. Ms. Sharpe testified that on the morning of the collision, tree branches were obstructing the view of the stop sign.⁴⁹ Ms. Sharpe also testified that there was no warning sign notifying drivers that there was an upcoming stop sign.⁵⁰ Melissa Crook, a resident of Fox Meadow, testified that she frequently noticed the stop sign was covered as a result of the overhanging branches from the River Birch and Bradford Pear trees.⁵¹ Photographs of the intersection condition taken in the years leading up to the collision show an obstructed sign and

⁴⁴ See Deposition of Amber Edwards, March 9, 2017, 6:14-21.

⁴⁵ See *id.*

⁴⁶ See *id.*, at 10:19-25, 11:1-3.

⁴⁷ See *id.* at 10:4-10.

⁴⁸ See *id.* at 10:11-16.

⁴⁹ See Dep. of Sharpe, 17:23-25.

⁵⁰ See *id.* at 15:25 – 16:1-4.

⁵¹ See Dep. of Crook, 26:12-25.

sight lines, which a witness has confirmed both were similarly obstructed on the day in question.⁵²

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from the grant of a summary judgment motion, this Court applies the same standard as that required for the circuit court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000). A Trial Court may properly grant a motion for summary judgement when “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, demonstrate that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRPC; *see also BPS, Inc. v. Worthy*, 362 S.C. 319, 325, 608 S.E.2d 155, 159 (Ct. App. 2005). Summary judgment is not proper “where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *BPS, Inc.*, 362 S.C. at 325, 608 S.E.2d at 159. “Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from the facts.” *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 378, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000). In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the Court “must view all evidence and inferences in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Medical Univ. of South Carolina v. Arnaud*, 360 S.C. 615, 619, 602 S.E.2d 747, 749 (2004). “All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party.” *BPS, Inc.*, 362 S.C. at 325, 608 S.E.2d at 159. Because summary judgment is drastic, it should only be invoked cautiously “to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” *Id.* at 326, 608 S.E.2d at 159.

⁵² *See* Photographs from Google Earth, Sept. 2011, *See also* Dep. of Sharpe, 24:15 – 31:10.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE BASIS THAT THEY DID NOT OWE THE APPELLANT A DUTY OF CARE IN MAINTAINING THE PRIVATELY OWNED AND CONTROLLED AREA NEAR THE STOP SIGN AT THE INTERSECTION OF LONGTOWN ROAD AND HUNTING PATH ROAD.

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