IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the South Carolina Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-002181

RECEIVED  
JUL 03 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Tina Bessinger .....

Appellant,

v.

LongCreek Plantation Property Owners Association, Inc., LongCreek Development,  
LLC, Fairways Development, LLC, Advantage Services, Inc., and Halcyon Real  
Estate Services, LLC.....

Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Anthony W. Livoti, Esquire  
Megan Walker, Esquire  
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.  
P.O. Box 6648  
Columbia, SC 29260  
(803) 782-4100  
Attorneys for Respondent Advantage  
Services, Inc.

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

## ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court properly granted Advantage Services summary judgment on Appellant's negligence claim against it because Appellant failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact on two essential elements of her claim – duty and proximate causation. In a negligence cause of action, the plaintiff must show that (1) the defendant owes a duty of care to the plaintiff, (2) the defendant breached the duty by a negligent act or omission, (3) the defendant's breach was the actual and proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury, and (4) the plaintiff suffered an injury or damages. *Steinke v. S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing & Regulation*, 336 S.C. 373, 387, 520 S.E.2d 142, 149 (1999). Appellant has failed to show that Advantage Services owed her an independent duty under either the common law or Advantage Services' contract with Halcyon. In addition, Appellant has failed to show that the alleged breach – “allowing the tree and/or shrubbery on the Property to obstruct the view of the stop sign” – was the actual and proximate cause of Appellant's injury. Therefore, Advantage Services is entitled to summary judgment on Appellant's sole claim against it, and the ruling of the Circuit Court should be affirmed.

**I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENT ADVANTAGE SERVICES BECAUSE APPELLANT FAILED TO RAISE A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT ON THE DUTY ELEMENT OF HER NEGLIGENCE CLAIM.**

“An essential element in a cause of action for negligence is the existence of a legal duty of care owed by the defendant to the plaintiff. Without a duty, there is no actionable negligence.” *Bishop v. S.C. Dep't of Mental Health*, 331 S.C. 79, 86, 502 S.E.2d 78, 81 (1998). The plaintiff bears the burden of establishing that the defendant owed a duty of care to her. *Steinke*, 336 S.C. at 387, 520 S.E.2d at 149 (citations omitted); *Doe v. Marion*, 361 S.C. 463, 470, 605 S.E.2d 556, 560 (Ct. App. 2004), *aff'd*, 373 S.C. 390, 645 S.E.2d

245 (2007). The existence of a duty owed is a question of law for the courts. *Doe v. Batson*, 345 S.C. 316, 323, 548 S.E.2d 854, 857 (2001). In a negligence action, if no duty exists, the defendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Simmons v. Tuomey Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 341 S.C. 32, 39, 533 S.E.2d 312, 316 (2000); *Marion*, 373 S.C. at 400, 645 S.E.2d at 250.

**A. Advantage Services did not owe any common law duty to Appellant.**

A “duty” is an obligation to conform to a particular standard of conduct toward a particular individual or the public at large. *See Shipes v. Piggly Wiggly St. Andrews, Inc.*, 269 S.C. 479, 238 S.E.2d 167 (1977) (*abrogated* on other grounds by *Bass v. Gopal, Inc.*, 395 S.C. 129, 716 S.E.2d 910 (2011)); *South Carolina State Ports Auth. v. Booz-Allen & Hamilton, Inc.*, 289 S.C. 373, 376, 346 S.E.2d 324, 325 (1986). “Generally, there is no common-law duty to act.” *Dennis by Evans v. Timmons*, 313 S.C. 338, 342, 437 S.E.2d 138, 141 (Ct. App. 1993). “[A] person usually incurs no liability when he fails to take steps to protect others from harm not created by his own wrongful conduct.” *Id.*

“An affirmative legal duty exists only if created by statute, contract, relationship, status, property interest, or some other special circumstance.” *Rayfield v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 297 S.C. 95, 100, 374 S.E.2d 910, 913 (Ct. App. 1988). A duty may arise from the defendant’s relationship to the injured party. *Troutman v. Facetglas, Inc.*, 281 S.C. 598, 316 S.E.2d 424 (1984). However, “[i]t is essential to liability for negligence to attach that the parties shall have sustained a relationship recognized by law as the foundation of a duty of care. Where this relationship is too attenuated, a duty will not arise.” *Ravan v. Greenville County*, 315 S.C. 447, 467, 434 S.E.2d 296, 308 (Ct. App. 1993) (internal citations omitted). It is the relationship between the parties, not the potential “foreseeability of

injury,” that determines whether the law will recognize a duty in a given context. *McCullough v. Goodrich & Pennington Mortg. Fund, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 43, 50 n.3, 644 S.E.2d 43, 47 n.3 (2007); *Charleston Dry Cleaners & Laundry, Inc. v. Zurich American Ins. Co.*, 355 S.C. 614, 586 S.E.2d 586, 588 (2003); *Williams v. Preiss-Wal Pat III, LLC*, 17 F. Supp. 3d 528, 535 (D.S.C. 2014). This ensures that the concept of duty in tort liability is not extended beyond reasonable limits. *South Carolina State Ports Auth.*, 289 S.C. at 376, 346 S.E.2d at 325-26 (“Foreseeability of injury, in the absence of a duty to prevent that injury, is an insufficient basis on which to rest liability. Foreseeability itself does not give rise to a duty....The concept of duty in tort liability must not be extended beyond reasonable limits.” (internal citations omitted)).

As to Respondent Advantage Services, Plaintiff claims that Advantage Services had a duty to use reasonable care to maintain the area around the stop sign in a safe condition and breached that duty by “failing to maintain the tree and/or shrubbery on the Property which [allegedly] obstructed Ms. Edwards’ view of the stop sign.” (R. p. 62 ¶¶ 25-26). However, there is no independent duty that Advantage Services owed to the Appellant in this situation. As the case law below demonstrates, neither the relationship of the parties nor the circumstances of the situation imposed a common law duty upon Advantage Services’ to act.

In a factually similar case, *Underwood v. Coponen*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the grant of summary judgment to a private landowner who allegedly failed to trim a tree that contributed to the plaintiff’s automobile accident. 367 S.C. 214, 216, 625 S.E.2d 236, 237 (Ct. App. 2006). In *Underwood*, a driver ran a stop sign at an intersection and collided with another vehicle in the intersection. *Id.* The plaintiff claimed

that the adjacent property owner was negligent in failing to trim a tree, and the tree's limbs obscured the other motorist's view of the stop sign, which caused the accident. *Id.* The trial court granted summary judgment to the landowner and the Court of Appeals affirmed. *Id.* The Court held that while a landowner has a duty to protect others from "defective or unsound trees" on his property, no such duty applied because the landowner's tree was not unsafe or defective but merely obscured the stop sign. *Id.* at 217–18, 625 S.E.2d at 238.<sup>3</sup> "The tree limb did not fall and injure [the plaintiff]." *Id.* at 218., 625 S.E.2d at 238.

Nevertheless, the plaintiff there argued that a duty existed because the landowner voluntarily undertook to act. The plaintiff argued that because the property owner had occasionally trimmed trees on his property, he owed a duty to the plaintiff to trim the tree to keep it from obscuring motorists' views of the stop sign. *Id.* at 218, 625 S.E.2d at 238. In response to this argument, the Court of Appeals quoted the Restatement (Second) of Torts, which provides:

One who undertakes, gratuitously or for consideration, to render services to another which he should recognize as necessary for the protection of the other's person or things, is subject to liability to the other for physical harm resulting from his failure to exercise reasonable care to perform his

---

<sup>3</sup> In her Memorandum in Opposition to the Motions for Summary Judgment, Appellant cites *Staples v. Duell*, 329 S.C. 503, 509, 494 S.E.2d 639, 642 (Ct. App. 1997) and *Israel v. Carolina Bar-B-Que, Inc.*, 292 S.C. 282, 356 S.E.2d 123 (Ct. App. 1987) in an attempt to prevent the application of *Underwood's* holding to the instant action. (See Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition, pp. 8, 11). However, both the cases cited by Appellant dealt with unsound trees that fell and injured persons, rather than sound trees that merely obscured a stop sign as is alleged in this case and as was dealt with in *Underwood*. See *Staples v. Duell*, 329 S.C. 503, 508, 494 S.E.2d 639, 641–42 (Ct. App. 1997) (addressing issue of duty where "dangerous condition caused by the dead pine tree" on roadway and stating that "when a tree is in an urban area, and **may fall into a city street**, the landowner now has a duty of reasonable care") (emphasis added); *Israel v. Carolina Bar-B-Que, Inc.*, 292 S.C. 282, 283, 356 S.E.2d 123, 125 (Ct. App. 1987) (addressing situation of decayed tree limb falling on car and holding that landowner in urban area has duty to "exercise reasonable care to prevent an unreasonable risk of harm from **defective or unsound trees** on his premises") (emphasis added).

undertaking, if (a) his failure to exercise such care increases the risk of such harm, or (b) the harm is suffered because of the other's reliance upon the undertaking.

*Id.* (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 323(a) (1965)). The Court of Appeals rejected the plaintiff's argument, and held that the landowner's occasional trimming of the tree did not create a duty for which he could be liable even if his failure to do so "increased the risk that the sign would be obstructed" because neither the at-fault motorist nor the plaintiff relied on the landowner to trim the tree. *Id.* at 218–19, 625 S.E.2d at 239.

Like the landowner in *Underwood*, Advantage Services as the landscaper owed no duty to Appellant. Relying on the facts and reasoning of the *Underwood* case, there is even less of a basis here to find that Advantage Services had a duty to Appellant. First, the Restatement section quoted in *Underwood* requires an undertaking before a duty attaches. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 323(a) (1965); *see also Dennis*, 313 S.C. at 342, 437 S.E.2d at 141 ("Even where there is no duty to act, if an act is voluntarily undertaken, the actor assumes a duty to use due care."). Here, Advantage Services never undertook to trim the trees at the intersection. (R. p. 413, lines 2-10; p. 493, lines 2-10 (stating that another company, Sox and Freeman, was awarded the contract to provide tree trimming at this intersection and other locations)). Also, Advantage Services is not the landowner and had no authority to trim the trees unless specifically requested to do so by Halcyon. (R. p. 410, lines 1-7; p. 496, lines 14-22; p. 497, lines 4-17). Moreover, like the plaintiff and at-fault motorist in *Underwood*, neither the Appellant nor Edwards had a basis to rely on Advantage Services to trim the trees. Appellant testified that she never actually witnessed any landscapers trimming the trees. (R. p. 481, line 23 – p. 482, line 7; p. 483, line 25 – p.

484, line 2).<sup>4</sup> Edwards also had not witnessed any tree trimming at this intersection, having never been to the neighborhood before. (See R. p. 361, lines 14-21). Thus, Advantage Services never undertook any action to trim the trees upon which Appellant or Edwards relied, and therefore Advantage Services owed no common law duty to Appellant.

Advantage Services also did not create the alleged safety hazard at the Fox Meadow entrances, as they neither planted the trees, nor were responsible for the ongoing maintenance of them. (R. p. 413, lines 11-23; p. 415, lines 4-9).<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> To the extent Appellant contradicts herself during her deposition testimony and says she had seen people cutting the trees at the Fox Meadows entrance, Appellant states: “I don’t know who they were.” (R. p. 376, lines 19-20). In his deposition, David Peterson testified that Advantage Services scope of work did not include trimming the trees at the Fox Meadow entrance, but another company, Sox and Freeman, was awarded a contract to provide tree trimming services at this and other locations. (R. p. 493, lines 21-25; p. 413, lines 2-10; p. 496, lines 14-22). However, Appellant admits in her deposition testimony, as cited above, that she doesn’t know if she ever saw anyone trimming the trees at this intersection:

Q: Based on your testimony, I understood – and correct me if I’m wrong. I think you said you asked the landscapers to trim the trees. Sometimes they would, sometimes they wouldn’t. And so trees were trimmed a couple of times. Is that your recollection?

A: Between – yes. Well, I would ask them to do it because I’d see them cutting the grass or whatever. **But did they ever actually cut them? I don’t think so.**

(R. p. 481, line 23 – p. 482, line 7) (emphasis added).

<sup>5</sup> Appellant’s allegation against Advantage Services is that Advantage Services was negligent by omission “for failing to maintain the tree and/or shrubbery” at the intersection. (See R. pp. 62-63 ¶¶ 26-28). To the extent Appellant’s Complaint alleges that Advantage Services was negligent by the affirmative act of “planting” trees or shrubbery at the intersection, such allegation is unsupported by the evidence presented. Appellant’s own witness, Melissa Crook, testified that no new trees had been planted and the landscaping at the intersection had been the same from 2003 until the accident. (R. p. 501, line 14 – 502, line 2). Advantage Services did not begin providing landscaping services to the subdivision until 2007. (R. pp. 247-49). Thus, during the time prior to the accident when Advantage

Therefore, Advantage Services' only duty arose from its contract with Halcyon and the LongCreek POA. It did not owe or assume any independent duty to the Appellant. Because there was no duty owed by Advantage Services to Appellant, the Circuit Court properly granted Advantage Services summary judgment, and this Court should affirm that decision.

**B. Advantage Services did not owe any contractual duty to Appellant.**

Advantage Services entered into a landscaping contract with Halcyon and the LongCreek POA under which it owned certain limited duties to those entities. However, Appellant was not a party to that contract, nor was she a third-party beneficiary of that contract. Therefore, Advantage Services also did not owe any contractual duty to Appellant and is entitled to summary judgment.

Though South Carolina courts have allowed tort liability to a third party as a result of contractual obligations, the duty involved flows directly from contracts made for the benefit of the third party. *Johnson v. Sam English Gardening, Inc.*, 412 S.C. 433, 448-49, 772 S.E.2d 544, 552 (Ct. App. 2015) *reh'g denied* (June 18, 2015), *cert. denied* (Oct. 8,

---

Services provided landscaping services to the subdivision, the landscaping remained the same at that intersection and no new trees were planted. (*See also* R. p. 413, lines 6-23).

In her Memorandum in Opposition to the Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment, Appellant argued that duty to a third party may arise out of a contract despite lack of privity. (*See* R. p. 208-10). However, all of the cases cited by Appellant to support such argument involved situations where the defendants, acting under their contracts, had affirmatively created a hazardous condition. *See Dorrell v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 312, 320, 605 S.E.2d 12, 16 (2004) (paver added pavement and increased the shoulder drop off to twelve inches); *Edward's of Byrnes Downs v. Charleston Sheet Metal Co.*, 253 S.C. 537, 540-41, 172 S.E.2d 120, 121 (1970) (roof installer began roof installation but left unfinished/uncovered roof for several weeks allowing for water intrusion); *Terlinde v. Neely*, 275 S.C. 395, 396, 271 S.E.2d 768, 768 (1980) (home builder improperly built foundation of house). In the current action, Advantage Services did not affirmatively create a hazardous condition.

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